A JESUIT SCHOOL IN THE CITY IN 1688

T. G.HOLT

During the rcign of James I the English Jesuits opened two schools in
London; one, the larger and better known, at the Savoy in May 1687, the other,
in the City in March 1688. Both ccased to exist at the Revolution. It is with the
sccond, the Limc Street or Fenchurch Street school, that this article is
concerned.

The stery of the school is closely connected with the story of a ‘popish’ or
Catholic chapel in Lime Street. In the reign of Charles II the only Catholic
chapels in London, apart from the Queen’s chapel at St James and the Queen
Dowager’s (later the Queen’s) at Somerset House, were thosc belonging to the
ambassadors or residents of Catholic states. With the accession of a Catholic
King the Chapels Royal at Whitehall and St James’s Palace were used for
Catholic services, as was, of course, the widowed Queen Catherine’s at
Somerset House. A chapel was opened at the Savoy in 1687. In addition, the
King wished to sce Catholic chapels established nearer to or in the City. Thus
the Benedictine monks opened one at St John’s, Clerkenwell, the Dominican
and Franciscan friars in Lincoln’s Inn Fields and the Carmelites in Bucklersbury,
all in 1687 or 1688. The Lime Strect chapel was ecarlier than any of these and was
first used in April 1686."

This chapel 1s described as having been at the Fishmongers’ Hall, not the
Fishmongers’ Hall in Upper Thames Street, but a building on a site bequeathed
to the Fishmongers” Company. Of this building it is recorded:

Sir Thomas Abney . . . kept his mayoralty (1700-1) in a grand old housc in Lime Street which
scems to have been built by Richard Langton about the year 1600. The site of it had been
occupicd by Lord Scrope of Bolton and was left by Richard Knight in 1501 to the Fishmongers’
Company. From a monograph with mecasurcd drawings by G. H. Birch and R. P. Spicrs onc
lcarns that it was standing in 1872

This house was on the east side of Lime Street and towards the northern end.
It was taken early in 1686 at the King’s desire by the representative of the
Elector Palatine, James Stanford.

According to one tradition some sccular priests opened the chapel here under
Stanford’s patronage and protection, near to or perhaps in his house. The house
had been taken on a thirty-one year lease in 1676 by Dr John Betts, a Catholic
physician, and it is possible that three priests, Andrew Giffard, James Dymock
and Christopher Tootell, with the assistance of a fourth, John Gother, had
opened the chapel before Stanford took over the property.* Another possibility
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is that Stanford made alterations to a building in the garden at the back and
fitted it up as a chapel appointing the three priests as chaplains. Both traditions
may be true. A chapel in the house was tollowed by Stanford’s chapel in a
separate but adjacent building which was opened on 18 April 1686. It scems
likely that the site of the chapel would roughly correspond to Nos.3 and 5
Fenchurch Avenue, on the left as one enters from Lime Strecet, part of the arca
now occupied by Lloyd’s.”

The King desired the chapel and so did Stanford. The Elector Palatine, Philip
William, pointing out that he was the Catholic ruler of a largely Protestant
state, was prudently less than enthusiastic but his objections were brushed aside
by the King and he eventually gave his consent.” The Lord Mayor and the City
authorities complained that as Stanford was English he could have no truc
ambassadorial status. The London mob made trouble and there were riots the
day the chapel was opened. Some contemporary accounts describe these:

On Sunday the 18th was a tumult made in Cheapside occasioned by the meeting at the popish
chapel in Limestreet, some of the rabble having followed the preists thither; so that the lord
mayor and alderman were there with the train’d bands to quell the same; some of the cheif
ringleaders were taken; and his majestic . . . sent for the lord mayor and told him to take care of
the peace of the citty or otherwise he should be forced to send some assistance to them.”

A correspondent provided further details:

On Sunday, the London hot-hcads were bantering Mr Sandford’s Chapel, got away a cross,
and sct it by a pump, paying very disorderly adoration to it, with halloaing, and then going
back and taking a cruaifix, and saying they would have no wooden gods worshipped. These
frightening the priest, but not hurting him. Then comes the Lord Mayor and commands the
pecace. The answer was in a scornful way. ‘What! the Lord Mayor of our city come to preach up
popery! too sure it cannot be.” Then the guard militia was ordered to send the rabble away; and
asking what they meant, the answer was, ‘Only pulling down popery’, and their return was, ‘If
that be all, we cannot in conscicnce hinder’. But vespers not going on in the chapel, they
dispersed. By next Sunday more matters may occur.’

A newsletter of the time reported:

19 April 1686. Some time since Mr Stamford Resident of the Elector Palatine at his house in
the city built a chapel there which was lately finished and yesterday being the first day it was
preached in the rabble . . . while they were at service assaulted them; it might have had ill
conscquences had not my Lord Mayor taken all imaginable care to suppress them. The Resident
has been to-day to complain to the King of it . . . about 20 of them are taken and in prison.”

More trouble was feared about a month later:

Some apprehensions there were that the apprentices designed to be troublesome to Mr
Sandford’s Chapel these holidays. 1 do not hear they stir.”

In June 1686, for a reason or reasons not now clear, the King had Stanford
replace his secular priest chaplains by Jesuit priests. By this time the riots had
dicd down and the popish chapel in Lime Street continued in usc, apparently
undisturbed, for the next two ycars."

The Jesuit school started at the Savoy in May 1687 was very successtul,
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attracting some 400 boys more than half of them not Catholics." And, as a
newsletter of December 1687 reported:

A school for maidens in St Martin’s Lanc erected by the Queen will be opened on St
Thomas’s day under four women in the habit of nuns. No religious distinction will be made;
the poor and rich to enjoy the benefit provided they come in clean and decent habits.”

The establishment of these schools drew attention to the need of education
for Londoners:

Four [Church of England| bishors design to erect a free school in Lincoln’s Inn Ficlds and the
project is afoot in divers other places, the Protestants being resolved not to be outdone in
charity by any of a different persuasion.”

In view of the success of the Savoy school the King gave orders for the
opening of a school attached to the Lime Street chapel and made it an annual
allowance of £350. It was opencd on 25 March 1688." It seems probable that
Stanford was dismissed or retired as representative of the Elector Palatine in
February or March and that the Jesuits took over his house and bought another
house adjacent to the chapel in which to open the school. Several Jesuits from
the Savoy moved in to live in the establishment, Charles Petre, the brother of
Edward Petre the Jesuit adviser of the King and privy councillor, being
appointed to manage and teach in the school.” It was not a large one. Initially
there appears to have been only one class but it made progress and was well
attended during the eight or nine months of its existence. It 1s possible that one
or two young Jesuit assistant masters were brought over from the Continent as
an addition to the staft before the end."

An interesting survival of this attempt to establish a school for Catholics (but
not only for Catholics) in the City is what may best be described as its
prospectus. It is entitled ‘The Rules of the Schools at the Jesuits in
Fanchurch-Street’ copies of which ‘are to be sold by the Cushion-Man at the
Chapel i Lime-Street’. The rules are ten in number.”

[. The Invention (sic) of Opcening these Schools is to Teach Youth Vertue and Learning: They
shall be Taught Gratis; nor sﬁall they be at any farther Charges or Expences than the buying of
their own Pens, Ink, Paper and Books.

II. These Schools are common to all, of what condition socver, and nonec shall be excluded,
when they shall be thought fit to begin to learn Latin, and Writc sufficiently well: And in the
Sc?oois shall be taught Greek and Latin, as also Poctry and Rhetoric, as they shall rise to higher
Schools.

III. And altho’ Youths of different Professions, whether Catholick or Protestants, come to
these Schools; yet in Teaching all, there shall be no distinction made, but all shall be Taught
with cqual Diligence and care, and every one shall be promoted according to his Deserts.

IV. There shall not be, cither by Masters or Scholars, any tampering or medling to persuade
any onc from the Profession of his own Religion; but therc shall be all freedom for every onc to
practise what Religion he shall please, and nonc shall be less estecem’d or favored for being of a
different Religion from others.
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V. None shall upbraid or reproach any one on the account of Religion; and when any
Exercise of Religion shall be practised, as hearing Mass, Catechising, or Preaching, or any other; 1t
shall be lawful for any Protestant, without any molestation or trouble, to absent himsclf from
such Exercise, if he please.

V1. All shall be Taught to keep God’s Commandments, and therefore none shall be permitted
to Lye, Swear, or Curse, or talk uncivil Discourse; Nor shall fight or quarrel with one another;
and he who shall be observed to fail in these Dutics, shall be punished according to his demerit;
And when any one, for these, or other Faults, shall be adjudged to any Chastisement, if he shall
refuse to receive such Chastisement quictly, or be stubborn, he shall be Expell’d the Schools,
and not be re-admitted again, until he shall have given satisfaction for such his Fault.

VII. All shall be in their respective Schools by a quarter before Eight in the Morning, and
shall there stay until Ten and a Ealf; Again at a quarter before Two, until half an hour after Four.
And all Parents are earnestly desired to send their Children timely to School, and not casily to
stay them at home; for the neglect of some Days may hinder the Profit of many Wecks and
Months; And they are to send them decently Clad.

VHIL The other hours of the day they shall Study at their own Homes, and prepare those
Excrcises, which the Masters in the Schools appoint to be brought, at their next coming to the
Schools. And thercfore all Parents are destred to allow their respective Scholars such
conveniency for their Studics at their own Houses, that they may comply with those Dutics,
which arc appointed them.

IX. All are required to be exact and diligent, in daily frequenting the Schools, and being
there, nonc are to go out without leave of their Master; and when any one shall be absent from
School, he shall the next day he comes bring from his Parents a Ticket of the lawfulness of such
his absence; Yet they shall have every Week two Afternoons of Recreation, in which they come
not to School; unless a Holy-day happen that Week, which shall ¢hen be their Recreation day.

X. Such as come from the Writing-School, and have no Entrance in Latin, are to be received
but three times in the Yecar, viz. at the beginning of the New Year, at Easter, and about our
Lady-day in September.

As Professor A.C.F. Beales wrote ‘We can see the revolutionary character of
these London Jesuit innovations at the Savoy and Lime Strect nowhere better
than in the Rules of this Fenchurch Street school.’™

When the Revolution came this school shared the fate of the Lime Street and
other chapels. The first disturbances occurred early in October 1688. ‘On
Sunday last there was a great disturbance in Limestreet at the Romish chappel
there, occasioned by the preists scurrilously reflecting on the translation of our
Bible.”” Shortly afterwards Dr Tenison preached at St Martin’s “. . . this sermon
was cheifly occasion’d by a Jesuite, who in the Mass-housc on the Sunday
before had disparaged the Scripture and rail’d at our translation, which some
present contradicting, they pull’d him out of the Pulpit, and treated him very
coarsly’.* The Jesuit Annual Letters recorded that as the Prince of Orange was

waiting for a fair wind.

i ity College her

_at first the fury of the mob pourcd itsclf out on our City College. At first the preac
was interrupted, prcs}éntly the pricsts were disturbed when saying Mass. Soon after the people
assembled in crowds, broke down the doors and pelted all who came out with stones. This
violence, however, was forcibly repulsed by the Catholics and was afterwards put down by the

Mayor by order of the King.”

Lime Street and other chapels were threatened again early in November:
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Great endcavours are used to prevail with the lads of London to be troublesome under the
pretence of pulling down the Popish Chapels in Lime Street, Bucklersbury, and St John’s; some
scores of them have rendevouzed these last two nights, but upon beat of drum, and appearing
of any small part of the Militia have scampered away and by flight provided for their safety.”

A month later, on 11 December the end came. It was the night the King left
London in flight:

On Tuesday night there was an alarm, occasioned by burning the Papists’ Lincoln’s Inn
Ficlds Chapel; they did the like to the Chapels of St John’s Clerkenwell, and Lime-Street, but
not casily breaking into the latter, cried they would down with it, were it as strong as
Portsmouth. And accordingly, having levelled them, they carried all the trumpery in mock
procession and triumph, with oranges on the tops of swords and staves, with great lighted
candles in gilt candlesticks, thus victoriously passing of the Guards that were drawn up. And
after having bequeathed thesce trinkets to the flames, they visited Harry Hills” Printing House,
which they served in like manner.®

A further detail is recorded in Luttrell, “The 11th the rabble assembled in a
tumultuous manner at St John’s, Clerkenwell, the popish monastery there, on
account of gridirons, spits, great cauldrons &c to destroy protestants till the
horse and footguards were sent to suppress them. . . %

With the destruction of the Lime Street chapel the school ceased to exist. “The
masters . . . who were teaching the classics in both Colleges left London to
cross to the Continent. . . ’.» Charles Petre was captured, probably at
Canterbury and lodged in Dover Castle and . . .

although he was well known to be a Jesuit and to be a brother of the very Fr [Edward] Petre
who was pursued with such special hatred, yet he succeeded in so softening the hearts of his
kcepers that he was most humancely treated and shortly after by an order obtained by petition to
the Court was liberated and passed over into Belguim.®

Of the other masters the Annual Letters reported ‘The four masters who
taught humanitics in the Savoy College and a laybrother were captured at
Canterbury on their way to Belgium, plundered of all they had, and after
receiving most brutal treatment both by words and blows were thrust into
prison . . . but after a time were set at liberty.’”

It is probable that therc were in all five or six young Jesuit masters at the
two schools that autumn—Richard Plowden, John Hall, John Turberville,
Philip Percy, Stanislaus Green and, perhaps, Edward Meredith. If four of them
were at the Savoy school it is likely that the others had, as suggested above,
been brought over from the Continent to increase the staft at Lime Street.”

It is a pity that the opening of these schools in Lime Street and at the Savoy
‘was represented at the time, and for long after, as an attack, not on the
ignorance of Londoners but on the Protestant religion’.* In the circumstances of
the time this, though sad, may have been almost inevitable.
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